IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-00216

KA

JD GULLY

APPELLAN

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

CHARLES W. WRIGHT, JR., PLLC POST OFFICE BOX 1677 1208 22ND AVENUE MERIDIAN, MS 39302-1677 (601) 693-6555 MSB No.

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-TS-00216

JD GULLY APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court erred by denying the Defendant's First Motion for a Mistrial after the Prosecution violated the trial court's ruling on the Defendant's Motion in Limine.
- II. Whether the trial court erred by ruling that the Defendant could not submit evidence in support of his theory of defense.
- III. Whether the weight and sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial justified the guilty verdict.
- IV. Whether the cumulative effect of the errors made by the trial court requires that a new trial be ordered.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

On the 27th and 28th days of November, 2007, the Appellant [hereinafter Defendant], J.D. Gully, was tried and convicted in the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County, Mississippi, on an indictment which charged him with the sale of hydrocodone and acetaminophen [hereinafter hydrocodone] within 1500 feet of a church, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §§ 41-29-139 and 41-29-142. (R.E. 2, 7; R. 1/2-3, 79, 84-85).

II. Course of the Proceedings

On or about March 23, 2007, an indictment was returned by a Lauderdale County Grand Jury, charging the Defendant with the sale of hydrocodone within 1500 feet of a church, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §§ 41-29-139 and 41-29-142. (R.E. 7; R. 1/2-3). Following the indictment, on April 10, 2007, a capias was issued and the Defendant was arrested. (R. 1/4). Also on April 10, 2007, the Defendant waived arraignment and entered a plea of not guilty to the charge in the indictment, and the case was set for trial. (R. 1/5).

On November 19, 2007, the Prosecution filed its first Motion to Amend the indictment, and then, filed its second Motion to Amend the indictment on the day the trial began. (R.E. 12; R. 1/48-49, 80-81). Both of these motions were granted, over objections by the Defendant's attorney, on the day the trial began. (R.E. 5,14; R. 1/50-51, 2/6-8).

On November 27, 2007, prior to the start of the trial, the Defendant, through his Attorney, made an *ore tenus* Motion in Limine to prohibit the Prosecution from eliciting information regarding or bringing up any allegations from a separate charge against the Defendant, and this motion was granted by the trial court. (R.E. 14; R. 2/12-13).

On November 27, 2007, the trial began and the Prosecution called Agent Daniel Boyd [hereinafter Boyd] of the East Mississippi Drug Task Force [hereinafter EMDTF] to testify. (R.

2/79). During the Prosecution's direct examination of Boyd, he responded to a question by the Prosecution's attorney which elicited a response in violation of the trial court's ruling on the Defendant's Motion in Limine. (R.E. 15; R. 2/97). After this response, the Defendant's attorney made a timely objection and the jury was excused from the courtroom. (R.E. 15; R. 2/97-98).

The Defendant then moved for a mistrial based on the Prosecution's violation of the trial court's prior ruling that the Prosecution could not solicit information regarding a separate charge against the Defendant. (R.E. 15; R. 2/99-100). The trial court denied the Motion for a Mistrial, and instead gave a curative instruction to the jury. (R.E. 15; R. 2/102-105).

After the Prosecution rested its case in chief, it requested that the Defendant not be allowed to present certain witnesses because in the Reciprocal Discovery—provided by the Defendant's attorney more than three (3) months before the Defendant was informed which charge would be tried—the Defendant stated that these witnesses would testify regarding the possession case which the Defendant thought would be tried on November 27, 2007. (R.E. 8, 16; R. 1/23-24, 3/198-200; Trial Ex. 13). The trial court refused to allow the Defendant to call his wife and other witnesses to the stand to testify in support of his theory of defense. (R.E. 16; R. 3/202-207).

The Defendant's attorney then made a Motion for a Directed Verdict in favor of a judgment of acquittal on behalf of the Defendant because the Prosecution failed to prove the elements of the crime charged, and this motion was denied by the trial court. (R.E. 17; R. 3/207-209).

After the Defendant's testimony was complete, the Defendant's attorney proffered the contents of the testimony of the witnesses who were not allowed to testify for purposes of the record. (R.E. 17; R. 3/255-257). The Defendant's attorney also made a Motion for a Mistrial on

behalf of the Defendant due to the fact that the Defendant was not allowed to present his theory of defense without one of these witnesses, and this motion was denied. *Id*.

The jury returned its verdict on November 28, 2007, finding the Defendant guilty of the sale of hydrocodone within 1500 feet of a church. (R.E. 2; R. 1/79, 84-85, 4/305-306; Trial Ex. 16).

Following the trial, on December 7, 2007, the Defendant filed a Motion for J.N.O.V., or in the Alternative, Motion for a New Trial. (R.E. 6; R. 1/86-88).

On January 8, 2008, the Sentencing Hearing was conducted, the Defendant was sentenced, and final judgment was rendered. (R.E. 3; R. 1/89-91, 4/309, 332-335). The Defendant's Motion for J.N.O.V., or in the alternative, Motion for a New Trial was also denied on January 8, 2008. (R.E. 6; R. 1/96, 4/335-336).

On February 1, 2008, the Defendant timely filed his Notice of Appeal, in order to appeal this case to the Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi. (R. 1/104-105).

III. Disposition in the Court Below

On November 28, 2007, the Defendant's trial ended and the jury found him guilty of selling hydrocodone within 1500 feet of a church. (R.E. 2; R. 1/79, 84-85, 4/306).

The trial court sentenced the Defendant on January 8, 2008 to: "serve a term of twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with twelve (12) years suspended and five (5) years supervised probation . . . after he[] has completed service of eight (8) years in the custody of the Department of Corrections . . . [p]ay Court costs of \$295.50, AB fee of \$400.00, \$300.00 lab fee, \$200.00 restitution to the Task Force, fine of \$5,000.00 for a total of \$6,195.50 to be paid at a rate to be determined upon release . . ." and other terms of his probation following his time in the custody of the Department of Corrections. (R.E. 3; R. 1/89-91, 4/332-335).

On February 1, 2008, the Defendant timely filed his Notice of Appeal, in order to appeal the final judgment, the denial of the Defendant's Motion for J.N.O.V., and the denial of the Defendant's Motion for a New Trial. (R. 1/104-105).

IV. Statement of Facts

The Defendant, J.D. Gully, is a sixty (60) year old resident of Lauderdale County, Mississippi, who was employed by the Meridian Star newspaper as a newspaper delivery person. (R. 3/218, 221-222). The Defendant only has a sixth grade education, and is a simple man who sometimes has a hard time communicating, as was demonstrated during his testimony. (R. 3/218). The Defendant also has no prior felony convictions. (R.E. 13; R. 3/218; Sentencing Hearing Ex. 1).

The Defendant is married and has three (3) children. (R. 3/222). At the time of the trial, the Defendant had been fired from his job because of the charge and time in jail, and was trying to get disability because of problems he has with his heart and his hip. (R. 3/222-224). At the time of the alleged offense, the Defendant was taking Lortab (hydrocodone), which was prescribed to him by a doctor for his hip, on which he had recently had surgery. (R. 3/225-226; Trial Ex. 14).

The Prosecution alleged in its Indictment against the Defendant—after it was amended by motion on the day of the trial over the Defendant's objection—that on September 27, 2006, the Defendant sold hydrocodone to a confidential informant of the EMDTF [hereinafter informant] within 1500 feet of a church in a video-recorded "buy/walk" operation, where the informant makes the buy and the violator walks away, in order to protect the informant's identity. (R.E. 7; R. 1/2-3, 2/76, 80-81, 97).

The informant who organized the alleged sale, Bill Parker [hereinafter Informant Parker], had been arrested several days prior to the alleged sale for trying to obtain a prescription by

fraud. (R. 2/123, 3/158, 175-176). Instead of informing the District Attorney's office of the arrest to allow the District Attorney to pursue an indictment against Parker, EMDTF entered into an agreement with Informant Parker, where he would act as a confidential informant and "inform on people" in order to "work off" the charge. (R. 2/123-125, 3/177-178, 183). Informant Parker had been a friend of the Defendant, and had visited the Defendant's house on many occasions prior to the alleged sale. (R. 3/170-171, 227).

The Prosecution alleges that Informant Parker called the Defendant's phone to set up the alleged transaction. (R. 2/75-76). However, the EMDTF Agents organizing the operation did not verify what number Informant Parker dialed and did not verify that it was actually the Defendant who was called. (R. 2/120-121). In fact, it was not until the trial when the Prosecution asked Informant Parker the number he dialed and then asked the Defendant his telephone number, that an attempt was made to establish that Informant Parker actually called the Defendant's telephone number. (R. 3/161, 237, 288). Also, Boyd testified that the phone call, allegedly made to the Defendant, was made from Informant Parker's house; however, Informant Parker testified that the call was made from the EMDTF office and that they then went to his house to complete the transaction. (R. 2/86, 3/161).

After the purported phone call, the Defendant is alleged to have arrived at the home of Informant Parker. (R. 2/75-76). However, neither Boyd, who was the Agent at Informant Parker's house, nor the other Agents who were watching from a vehicle on the street, made any attempt to see or record the tag number of the car in which the Defendant is alleged to have arrived, even though Boyd testified that the Defendant arrived in a Red Ford Focus. (R. 2/93-94, 135, 3/288).

Boyd also testified that he was looking through blinds while he watched the alleged transaction within an arm's length of the video camera; however, when the tape from the video

camera right next to Boyd is reviewed, it is clear that there were no blinds on the window. (R. 2/90-91, 3/289; Trial Ex. 3, 4).

It is then alleged that the Defendant sold forty (40) pills of hydrocodone to Informant Parker for two hundred dollars (\$200.00). (R. 2/76). In his testimony, Informant Parker stated that the pills were wrapped in a paper towel when he received them and transferred them to Boyd. (R. 3/166, 172-173; Trial Ex. 12). However, the pills allegedly sold by the Defendant were in a white "Mr. Discount" drugstore bag when introduced as evidence during the trial, and Boyd stated in his testimony that he had only counted the pills and placed the evidence in a heat-sealed "K-pak" bag. (R.E. 9; R. 2/106-107, 109, 3/195, 287-289; Trial Ex. 2). Also, Boyd was confused as to the number of pills that were involved in the alleged transaction, stating at one point that there were 200 pills, and then the Prosecuting attorney led him to say it was only 40 pills. (R. 2/111).

The Defendant produced medical records to show that he was prescribed hydrocodone, but on the name on the bag put into evidence at trial was "Gordon Gloria," and the Prosecution made no attempt to connect that name to the Defendant. (R.E. 9; Trial Ex. 2, 14). Further, the fact that another person's name was on the bag was exculpatory evidence that was not disclosed to the Defendant. (R.E. 9; Trial Ex. 2, 6).

Also, even though Boyd testified that it would have been possible, no fingerprint analysis was done on the bag alleged to have been involved in the purported transaction. (R. 2/136, 3/289). Further, Boyd testified that the informant was given "official buy funds" of the EMDTF to make the alleged purchase, and copies of the one hundred dollar bill and of five (5) twenty dollar bills were in the discovery. (R. 2/93; Trial Ex. 6). However, these bills were not recovered from the Defendant to tie him to the alleged sale.

Informant Parker testified that the Defendant came to the house and immediately made the transaction, even after the Prosecution attempted to lead him to respond differently. (R. 3/165, 184, 287). However, Boyd testified that the Defendant left Informant Parker's house, returned to his car to retrieve the pills, and returned to Informant Parker's house. (R. 2/95-96).

Informant Parker also testified that the Agents had searched his house that day, even though Boyd had testified that it was several days before the alleged transaction. (R. 2/132-133, 3/162-163, 184). Informant Parker did not change this testimony until he was led to do so in redirect examination by the Prosecution—at which point he stated that the search occurred several days prior to the alleged transaction. (R. 3/186-187).

In order to enhance the penalty for the alleged offense, the Prosecution was allowed to introduce a printout from "Google Earth," over an objection by the Defendant's attorney, which shows that the distance between where the alleged transaction occurred and the closest church as less than 1,500 feet. (R.E. 10; R. 2/117-119, Trial Ex. 5). However, Boyd conceded that this distance is measured in a straight line and does not account for whether it is through woods or on a road. (R. 2/142).

Informant Parker was a friend of the Defendant, so the fact that Informant Parker picked out the man from whom he said he bought hydrocodone in a photo lineup did nothing to aid the Prosecution's case, and further, the photo lineup was not included in the case report. (R.E. 12; R. 2/126, 3/170-171, 174, 219, 227; Trial Ex. 6-9).

Also, Boyd testified that he also went through a photo lineup to identify the Defendant, but that identification was also left out of the case report. (R.E. 12; R. 2/126, 3/291; Trial Ex. 6-9). Further, Boyd was E-mailed the photo lineup and a copy of the Defendant's driver's license at the same time; and Boyd testified that when he made his own photo identification of the Defendant, he did so while or after viewing a copy of the Defendant's driver's license. (R.

2/130-131, 3/289). Boyd also made an in-court identification of the Defendant, but that was not a difficult task since the Defendant is sitting at the defense table. (R. 2/116.)

The Defendant also played the video of the alleged transaction taped by Boyd, which did not include any audio. (R. 3/232-234, 291; Trial Ex. 3, 4). In the video, the identity of the person making the alleged transaction is not clear, and the person in the video looks younger and in better health than the Defendant. (R. 3/237, 244, 253, 291).

The Defendant stated in his testimony that he was not the person in the video, and that he did not sell hydrocodone to Informant Parker. (R. 3/235).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred by denying the Defendant's First Motion for a Mistrial after the Prosecution violated the trial court's ruling on the Defendant's Motion in Limine.
- II. The trial court erred by ruling that the Defendant could not submit evidence in support of his theory of defense.
- III. The weight and sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial did not justify the guilty verdict.
- IV. The cumulative effect of the errors made by the trial court requires that a new trial be ordered.

The trial court clearly abused its discretion by denying the Defendant's Motion for a Mistrial after the Prosecution's violation of the trial court's ruling on the Defendant's Motion in Limine. By allowing the trial to continue after the Prosecution's witness stated that the informant had made another case against the Defendant and that the other case had a technical difficulty, the trial court allowed the jury to continue hearing the case after the "substantial and irreparable prejudice" to the Defendant's case. Further, the trial court's curative instruction did nothing more than highlight the error that had already occurred and prejudiced the case. The prejudice against the Defendant because of these remarks is heightened due to the fact that the Defendant had no prior felony convictions. Thus, the trial court's denial of the Motion for a Mistrial caused a "miscarriage of justice," and therefore, a mistrial should have been granted.

The Defendant's second Motion for Mistrial was also denied. This motion was the result of the trial court's decision not to allow the Defendant to call his wife to the stand in support of his theory of defense. The trial court held that this would be cumulative, and only allowed the Defendant to call himself as a witness. The fact that the trial court refused to allow the

Defendant to call a witness in support of his theory of defense is clearly an abuse of discretion by the trial court, and should have resulted in the granting of the Defendant's Motion for a Mistrial.

Further, the sufficiency and weight of the evidence in this case were inadequate to support the conviction of the Defendant. There were contradictions in the testimony of the two alleged eyewitnesses regarding the chain of custody of the evidence, the alleged occurrences, and there were also issues which made the identifications inadequate. The Prosecution also violated its Discovery requirements by failing to inform the Defendant of the exculpatory evidence that it possessed. Further, the alleged eyewitnesses were the informant who was not at all credible, and the agent who could not see the alleged transaction. The fact that the Prosecution presented no other corroborating evidence leads to the conclusion that the evidence was insufficient and not of enough weight to justify a guilty verdict.

Also, the fact that the Defendant was convicted by the jury is more likely the result of the prejudice he suffered because of the trial court's failure to grant a mistrial either when the Prosecution violated the trial court's ruling on the Motion in Limine, or when the Defendant was not allowed to call any witnesses other than himself in support of his theory of defense. Thus, the trial court erred by not granting the Defendant's Motion for a Directed Verdict and Motion for J.N.O.V., and abused its discretion by not granting a peremptory instruction for the Defendant and by failing to grant the Defendant's Motion for a New Trial.

If the aforementioned errors individually are not enough to at least warrant a new trial, then the cumulative effect of these and other errors in the proceedings leads to the conclusion that a new trial is required in the interest of justice, and that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S FIRST MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL AFTER THE PROSECUTION VIOLATED OF THE TRIAL COURTS RULING ON THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION IN LIMINE.

Prior to the start of the trial in this case, the Defendant, through his Attorney, made a Motion in Limine to prevent the Prosecution from bringing up or asking a question that would elicit a response that referred to other charges against the Defendant. (R.E. 14; R. 2/12). This motion was granted by the trial court, and the Prosecution's attorney stated: "I covenant with the Court that I won't [sic.] get into that unless I bring it to the Court's attention outside the presence of the jury before I do so." (R.E. 14; R. 2/13).

During the direct examination of the Prosecution's first witness, the Prosecution asked the witness whether the informant used in this case has been used to make any other cases. (R.E. 15; R. 2/97). The witness then replied: "[y]es, sir. He did make cases on [the Defendant] once more, but we had a technical difficulty on that case." *Id.* The Defense made a timely objection, and the jury was excused from the courtroom. (R.E. 15; R. 2/97-98).

The Defendant, through his attorney, made a Motion for a Mistrial based on the Prosecution's violation of the trial court's ruling on the Motion in Limine, stating:

Comes now the Defendant by and through his attorney of record and moves for a mistrial consistent with the Court's prior ruling that the prosecution would not solicit any other claims of charges of Mr. Gully. The witness now has testified in front of the jury that there was another buy case promulgated by the undercover agent and could not pursue it due to technical nature. It is highly prejudicial to the Defendant. It is in complete abrogation of the Court's prior ruling, and it cannot be tolerated; and no—no type of curative instruction can be given to cure this type of testimony. . . . The cat is out of the bag. It's before the jury. If the Court attempts some type of curative instruction, it just highlights it worse. The prejudicial effect at this point cannot be overcome other than [by] a mistrial.

(R.E. 15; R. 2/99-100, 102).

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