IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

J.D. GULLY

FILED

APPELLANT

AUG - 5 2008

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS NO. 2008-KA-0216-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LISA L. BLOUNT

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

JAMIEL WIGGINS
ATTORNEY GENERAL LEGAL INTERN

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

First, defense alleges an abuse of discretion by the court's denial of his motion for a mistrial. This motion was based on the violation of an order entered prior to trial prohibiting the State from eliciting information regarding or bringing up any allegations from the separate drug possession charge against the defendant. (TR 12-13). The trial judge noted that the alleged violation was unintentional and unsolicited. As a result, the motion for mistrial was denied and the trial was allowed to proceed. The trial judge gave a curative instruction to the jury to disregard what had been said in violation of the order. (TR 102-05). The defense contends that there was reversible error in the form of "substantial and irreparable prejudice" to the Defendant's case. (Appellant's Brief 13). There was no "miscarriage of justice" as the defense asserts and the court was correct in this ruling.

Defense made a second motion for a mistrial, which again, was properly denied. Defense based this motion on the fact that the court denied the defendant's wife from testifying to support his defense. The court correctly held that her potential testimony would be cumulative and therefore

defendant with the white bag with the name "Gloria Gordon" on it. Defendant contends the State never attempted to connect the name "Gloria Gordon" with defendant. (Appellate's Brief 26). Defendant's claim is totally without merit. The existence of the bag was never concealed from defendant; defendant was allowed to view the bag, and the bag was not exculpatory evidence. Defendant is procedurally barred from rasing the issue on appeal for the first time.

Defendant also asserts that the sufficiency and weight of the evidence in this case were inadequate to support his conviction. We disagree. Defense's argument that the eyewitness informants are not credible is merely a manifestation of their contempt for the incriminating testimony that was given against their client. The jury found the evidence to be sufficient and so did the lower court.

The assertion that the defendant's conviction by the jury "is more likely the result of the prejudice he suffered," is pure conjecture and has no factual basis. Defendant contends that if one of the errors by itself is not enough, then the cumulative effect of the many errors by the trial court in this case is enough to merit a new trial. (Appellate's Brief 11). We disagree in that we fail to recognize any decision of the lower court as erroneous. Therefore the ruling of the lower court should stand as is.

DEFENDANT'S FIRST MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL.

Before trial, defense made a Motion in Limine to prevent the State from mentioning or asking a question that would elicit a response referring to other drug charges against the defendant. (TR 12). The motion was granted and the State was directed not to mention such unless it was first brought to the court's attention outside the presence of the jury. (TR 13).

During the direct examination of Agent Boyd, counsel for the State asked whether the informant in this case had been used to make any other cases. The witness replied "[y]es sir. He did make cases on [the defendant] once more, but we had a technical difficulty on that case." (TR 97). Upon hearing this answer, defense immediately objected and the jury was excused from the courtroom.

Defense then moved for a mistrial based on the alleged violation of the order excluding evidence of defendant's other drug charges. The State argued that the question was in no way intended to elicit any reference to any subsequent charges against defendant.

"I was simply asking him about the CI's [informant's] participation over a period of time because I was trying to explain why there was not a buy and bust made right then and that the reason was because they didn't want to burn him and they wanted to use him to make further cases so that he would be more useful. But the attempt was not to elicit any testimony about any other attempted buy with Mr. Gully which ... I was ignorant of until he opened his mouth and said that." (TR 100).

From this, it is clear that the prosecution's goal in asking the question was merely to lay a foundation and explain that the defendant was not apprehended at the time of sale to protect the informant's identity as an informant to assist in that capacity in future operations such as the one in question. This question also served to show that the informant, Parker, had no particular bias towards the defendant because he intended to help bring down other distributors in future operations. When

denied this motion, stating "...I think the mention of a possible other case that was not prosecuted is not – doesn't rise to the level that requires a mistrial."(TR102). The court then gave defense counsel the option of having the court instruct the jury to disregard any mention of some other incident or contact with law enforcement and a jury instruction at the end of the trial reinforcing that in writing or ignoring it altogether with instructions. Defense counsel requested the court to instruct the jury accordingly. (TR 102-3).

The trial court must declare a mistrial when there is an error in the proceedings resulting in substantial and irreparable prejudice to the defendant's case; however, the trial judge is permitted considerable discretion in determining whether a mistrial is warranted since the judge is best positioned for measuring the prejudicial effect. *Jones v. State*, 962 So.2d 1263 (Miss. 2007) (citing *Gossett v. State*, 660 So.2d 1285, 1290-91 (Miss. 1995)).

Given the nature of the alleged error or violation, the trial judge made his best judgment in regards to the issue. As *Jones* states, "the trial judge is in the best position to measure the prejudicial effect." *Id.* He used his discretion to rule accordingly and his sound decision should be given deference.

More specifically, in most cases, when an objection is made to improper questions by a district attorney and the court sustains the motion and admonishes the jury to disregard the improper questions and evidence, we have held that any prejudice created by the questions was cured and the trial court properly overruled the motion for a mistrial. *Reid v. State*, 266 So.2d 21 (Miss. 1972); *Thomas v. State*, 285 So.2d 148 (Miss. 1973). However, in the final analysis, each case must be decided on its own peculiar facts. *Henderson v. State*, 403 So.2d 139 (Miss. 1981). As prescribed

Mississippi Supreme Court held that "[w]hile error occurred, we find that the error was harmless, as it resulted in no prejudice to Jones, and it does not merit reversal." 962 So.2d 1263. Here, the trial judge used his valid discretion to make a reasonable ruling on the Motion for Mistrial based upon his reasonable perception of the situation.

Any assertion by the defendant that the jury was extremely prejudiced by the statement is pure conjecture and has no factual basis. Further, this statement alone was not strong enough to sway a jury to rule as they did against the defendant. There was sufficient testimony and evidence presented that played the major role in having the defendant found guilty.

Consequently, based upon the law, as summarized recently in *Jones*, there was no error in denying defendant's motion for mistrial. No relief should be granted based on this allegation of trial court error.

During the trial, the State objected to the defense calling Lorene Gully, wite of the defendant, as a witness. The State claimed Lorene Gully's testimony was irrelevant. (TR 199-200). This objection was based upon the defense's response to reciprocal discovery, "Lorene Gully, wife, who was present at the house at the time of the arrest and heard Loveen Bohnannon state that anything in the house belonged to him." Also, the response to discovery asserted that the witness would testify to the events at the time of defendant's arrest, and not to any events pertaining to the subject sale transaction. (TR 199-200; C.P. 23).

Defense counsel, claiming the discovery response was submitted in **both** the sale case and the possession case against the defendant, anticipated Mrs. Gully would testify to matters in the possession case. (TR 200). Defense counsel also argued that Mrs. Gully was to testify regarding the video footage of the sale transaction. Of course, she was to say that the man in the video was not her husband, just as the defendant himself testified. However, this testimony would have been cumulative, redundant and of no use.

Mrs. Gully was also to testify about events that occurred at the time of defendant's arrest, specifically, a statement she heard from the defendant's brother. This testimony would have been of no consequence considering it was related to the possession charge and not the sale charge.

The State succinctly argued in support of the objection that there was no basis for the defendant's wife to testify to an observation of the same thing that the jury is going to observe. (TR 202). The video was in evidence and the jury could view it themselves; Lorene Gully's testimony would be an opinion that is absolutely not helpful and baseless. *Id.* The trial judge agreed. Her testimony would have been cumulative because the defendant had already made the same testimony.

[Supreme] Court will not reverse this ruling. *Shaw v. State*, 915 So.2d 442, 445 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Jefferson v. State*, 818 So.2d 1099, 1104 (Miss. 2002) (quoting *Fisher v. State*, 690 So.2d 268, 274 (Miss. 1996))); M.R.E. 103(a).

The standard of review for the admission or suppression of evidence in Mississippi is abuse of discretion. *Poole v. Avara*, 908 So.2d 716, 721 (Miss. 2005); *Miss. Trans. Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003). An abuse of discretion standard means the judge's decision will stand unless the discretion he used is found to be arbitrary and clearly erroneous. *Id*.

In the case at bar, the judge's actions and ruling were based on M.R.E. 403 when he ruled the potential testimony would be cumulative. Relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." M.R.E. 403.

"[T]he standard of review regarding Rule 403 determinations is an 'abuse of discretion.' "

Fitch v. Valentine, 959 So.2d 1012 (Miss. 2007) citing Baldwin v. State, 784 So.2d 148, 160 (Miss. 2001). As prescribed by case law, the judge enjoyed the discretion to rule within those parameters. Thus, his use of his discretion was not arbitrary nor erroneous. The "abuse of discretion standard" is passed whereas there was no abuse of discretion.

Next, having first viewed the video of the sales transaction two days prior to trial, the defense asserts error on behalf of the State in failing to timely produce the requested discovery. However, defense counsel acknowledges he received the State's discovery packet on or before April 17, 2007, and had knowledge of the video months prior to trial. (Appellant's Brief 16). The

State's discovery packet lists two CD's and a JVC dignar . .

reference to a video of the sales transaction in the Task Force agent's case report (1114.

The defendant was also charged by separate indictment with possession of a controlled substance with intent to sell in violation of *Mississippi Code Annotated § 41-29-139*. (TR 11). On November 27, 2007, in the case *sub judice*, the State proceeded with the sale charge, being Circuit Court Cause No. 112-07, and not the possession with intent charge, being Circuit Court Cause No. 063-07. Defense contends it thought the possession charge was going to trial and that the severance of the two charges was in error. Defense claims he was not given enough time to prepare adequate defenses, or make changes to the reciprocal discovery in the sale case, being Cause No. 112-07. (Appellant's Brief 16). This argument is without merit. The record clearly reflects that on August 14, 2007, the Circuit Court entered an order setting Cause No. 112-7, the sale case, for trial on November 27, 2007. (C.P. 46).

Defense also moved for a mistrial based on the court allowing the State to amend the indictment. On the day of trial, the State was allowed to amend simple typographical errors to the indictment. (C.P. 50, 51).

Indictment[s] may be amended for matters of form, but not of substance and cannot be amended so as to change [a] charge made therein to another crime except by action of [the] grand jury that returned it. Shive v. State, 507 So.2d 898 (Miss. 1987); Miss. Code Ann. § 99-7-21. This case supports the State's position that amending an indictment in form is permitted by law. Had there been an attempt to change the substance of the indictment in regards to the content of the charges,

the defense would have been correct in their objection. This was not the scenario in the case at

prejudice the defendant's case. *Leonard v. State*, 972 So.2d 24 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). In that case, the Court found that the prosecution would be allowed to amend the indictment, charging sexual battery, to correct the date of the offense. *Id.* The amendment did not materially alter any fact that was the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood, [and] the amendment did not materially alter defendant's defense, which was based on the premise that he never touched victim inappropriately. *Id.*

In the case *sub judice*, the State moved to amend the header of the indictment showing the term of the grand jury that issued the indictment and also the month the crime was committed. The requested amendments were changes to the form and not of substance. Therefore, the defendant should not have been afforded additional time to prepare for a defense of an issue he knew about prior to the trial date.

Defendant objects to the admission of the white bag which contained the hydrocodone introduced at trial as Exhibit 2. Defendant raises for the first time on appeal, that the Prosecution did not disclose to the defendant that the name of "Gloria Gordon" was on the white bag. Defense asserts that the name on the bag is exculpatory evidence that the State should have turned over. A white bag was referenced in the case agent's report, the Task Force evidence submission form and the Mississippi Crime Laboratory analysis report, which were provided to defense in discovery months before trial. (Trial Exhibit 6). Agent Boyd testified he took custody of the controlled substance immediately after the sale so that the fact the name "Gloria Gordon" is on the white bag is not exculpatory evidence that the State failed to produce. Defense also asserts an alleged break in the chain of custody of the hydrocodone.

Defense counsel fails to mention to this court that "Gloria Gordon" is defendant's sister, according to her letter of recommendation submitted to Judge Williamson prior to defendant's sentencing. (Sentencing Exhibit 2). This evidence was not exculpatory, in fact it supports the State's case. Therefore, had the defense objected at trial to the admission of the white bag, Gloria Gordon's name could have been explained to the jury.

The case *sub judice* is in line with the holding in *Johnson v. State*, 904 So.2d 162 (Miss.,2005). In *Johnson*, the defendant failed to object to the chain of custody or to the admission of the cocaine into evidence. For the first time, on appeal Johnson asked the Mississippi Supreme Court to address the propriety of the judge's admission of the cocaine. The Court opined:

This Court normally reviews a judge's decision to admit or exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion. *Graves v. State*, 492 So.2d 562, 565 (Miss.1986). However, a defendant's failure to make a contemporaneous objection to the

deemed "plain error" when the substantive rights of a defendant are affected. *Grubb* v. State, 584 So.2d 786, 789 (Miss.1991).

.... Moreover, the trial court specifically asked defense counsel if he had any objections to introduction of the cocaine either as an exhibit for identification purposes only or for admission into evidence and counsel did not object on either occasion. As the trial court properly admitted the cocaine into evidence without any objection from Johnson, it cannot be said that the trial court "abused its discretion" or committed "plain error." We find that Johnson's claim of a break in the chain of custody is procedurally barred. Further, we find his claim is without merit. *Johnson* at 171.

The record reflects in the case before us that the State offered sufficient testimony from Agent Boyd and the crime lab analyst to satisfy the requirement of M.R.E. 901(a) for establishing a proper chain of custody for admission of the hydrocodone and white bag at trial.

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